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Background

There were a total of 56 effluent limit violations of Napa Sanitation District’s permits during the period between January 1, 2000 and February 28, 2002. The MMP of $153,000 is for 2 chlorine residual violations at $6,000, and 47 total coliform bacteria violations at $141000, of which $99,000 is for moving median limit violations and $42,000 is for daily maximum limit violations, and 2 acute toxicity violations at $6,000. The MMP is based on two NPDES permits that were in effect during the period. Prior to July 19, 2000, Order No. 94-037 was in effect. On and after July 19, 2000 Order No. 00-059 was in effect. To further complicate the situation, on September 6, 2001, upon Napa’s request a court order stayed certain effluent limits of Order No. 00-059. Those effluent limits continued to be stayed through February 28, 2002 and therefore are not addressed in this MMP Complaint. Figure 1 depicts the time line of significant events, for the violations, legal action and legislative actions. Board staff has used the State Water Resources Control Board’s SB 709 and SB 2165 Question and Answer dated April 17, 2001 (Q&A) as guidance in interpreting Section 13385, which is the law that requires that the Regional Board impose minimum penalties for certain violations.

As shown in Figure 1, the Executive Officer first issued the MMP on December 20, 2002.  The Discharger indicated it would contest the MMP and the constitutionality of the MMP law. Board staff spent considerable time reviewing and investigating the Discharger’s objections, including meeting with the Discharger on February 20, 2003 and a review of the Discharger’s documents at the Discharger’s treatment plant on April 8, 2003.  After review and investigation the MMP was reissued for the same violations on August 7, 2003 for $153,000.  In a letter dated September 8, 2003, the Discharger has again indicated that it would contest the reissued MMP.

Figure 1 also shows the time period for violations covered by the MMP and the active NPDES permits.  During this time period the Discharger appealed Order No. 00-059 and portions of the permit’s effluent limits were stayed by the Solano County Superior Court.  Violations of those stayed limits are not part of the MMP.  

In addition, Figure 1 shows the applicable state law that was in effect and the amendments that also affect the construction of the MMP.  The Discharger has asked for relief under amendments that were not effective during the period covered by this complaint. Even if the amendments were applicable, the Discharger does not qualify for the exemption because the Discharger does not meet the exemption criteria. The record of an April 8, 2003 Board staff investigation provides a record of the Discharger’s inability to support a claim of exemption under those amendments.

Finally, Figure 1 shows the issuance of guidance from the State Board including the Q&A and the Enforcement Policy that were used to construct the MMP. 

Format of Staff Response to Written Comments

The format of this staff response begins with a brief introduction of the Discharger’s comments, followed by staff response. Interested persons should refer to the attached original correspondence to ascertain the full substance and context of the comment.  The Discharger’s comments and the Board staff’s responses are summarized as follows:

Introduction to Response to Comments 

The Discharger’s comment to the Complaint outlines its belief that each and every one of the violations in the initial and reissued complaint should not be subject to MMP categories and fines such as acute toxicity, coliform and chlorine residual. Failing that, the discharger claims several exemptions that would either absolve the Discharger of all MMPs, or cause the majority of the violations to be penalized as a single event, subject to a significantly reduced fine. The Discharger’s claims of exemption are based on law or guidance that was either not in force or not promulgated. In Response 1 the Discharger’s questioning of the applicability of the toxicity limits is addressed. In Response 2 Board staff addresses which violations count towards the fourth or subsequent non-serious violation subject to MMP. The third and fourth responses discuss chlorine residual violations, whether they are serious or non-serious. The fifth response addresses the Discharger’s request to hold the enforcement action in abeyance until new policy potentially favorable to it is passed. Responses 6, 7 and 8 discuss the coliform violations, their legality, and the (statistical) compliance periods required by the permit. The last response covers the Discharger’s various claims of exemption or affirmative defense, as allowed at different times by different agencies, legislation or policy. 

Comment 1

The Discharger claims that acute toxicity limitation violations are not subject to MMP where the permit contains limits for specific toxic pollutants. 

Response 1

The MMP legislation requires penalties for two types of acute toxicity violations as described in Water Code Section 13385 (i) (1)and (4). Board staff agree with the Discharger’s assertion that CWC Section 13385 (i) (4) is not applicable, but believe that Section 13385 (i) (1) is applicable. Section (1) applies because NPDES Order No. 00-059 contains a waste discharge effluent limitation for toxicity, where the toxicity measured is the toxicity of the whole effluent, not the toxicity of a specific toxic pollutant. The type of analyses conducted by the Discharger is known as “Whole Effluent Toxicity” (WET) which measures the toxicity of the effluent as a whole. The synergistic effects of specific toxic pollutants and other toxic pollutants known, unknown and unmeasured are all evaluated by the WET analysis.  This aggregate toxicity meets the definition of an effluent limitation and is therefore addressed under Section 13385 (i) (1). 

Water Code Section13385 (i) states that “A mandatory minimum penalty of three thousand dollars ($3,000) shall be assessed for each violation whenever the person does any of the following four or more times in any period of six consecutive months, except that the requirement to assess the mandatory minimum penalty shall not be applicable to the first three violations:

(1) Violates a waste discharge requirement effluent limitation.

…

   (4) Violates a toxicity discharge limitation contained in the applicable waste discharge requirements where the waste discharge requirements do not contain pollutant-specific effluent limitations for toxic pollutants.”

The Discharger has violated CWC 13385(i) (1) and since any violations four or more times in any six month period requires an MMP, the complaint and tentative order assess the appropriate penalty.  

The Q & A Number 21 defines what an effluent limitation is for the purpose of 13385(i)(1) as follows:

“For the purpose of applying the mandatory penalty provisions, the Regional Boards should consider “effluent limitations” to refer to the restrictions that focus on quantities, discharge rate or concentrations of the effluent that is authorized to be discharged from the location(s) specified in the NPDES permit.4” Footnote 4 – “Effluent” refers to both the individual pollutants in the discharge and the sum of those pollutants, or the whole of the discharge. (Q&A, Number 21, page 7)

The Q & A Number  28 defines what a toxicity discharge limitation is for the purpose of 13385(i)(4).  “A toxicity discharge limitation” is a toxicity limitation that applies to the discharge, but that does not meet the definition of an effluent limitation.  Exceedances of toxicity effluent limitations, including effluent limitations for whole effluent toxicity, are addressed by section 13385(i)(1).” (Q&A, Number 28, page 10) (Emphasis added)

Acute toxicity effluent limitations in Order No. 00-059 regulate the aggregate impact of the sum of multiple pollutants, or the whole of the discharge.  Therefore, acute toxicity effluent limitation clearly meets the definition of an “effluent limitation” and violation of which is subject to an MMP under 13385(i)(1).  This interpretation is consistent with all the previous MMPs issued.  

Comment 2

Even if MMPs did apply to acute toxicity, only the fourth and subsequent violation of the same effluent limit would be subject to MMPs.    

Response 2

The toxicity effluent limit violations are charged under Section 13385 (i) (1), which requires that any and all violations of waste discharge requirement effluent limits count towards the fourth and subsequent violation subject to MMP. The Discharger’s assertion that only the fourth and subsequent violation of just the toxicity limit be subject to MMP. The fourth and subsequent violations of any combination of effluent limitations in a period of six consecutive months is subject to MMP. The violations need not be of the same effluent limitation.
Q&A Number 34 addresses the specific issue as follows:

“In determining the amount of the penalty under section 13385(i), the Regional Board would assess $3,000 for each violation, not counting the first three violations, where the discharger had four or more violations in any one of the four categories of violations in section 13385(i).  For example, if a discharger exceeded any combination of effluent limitations (emphasis added) 10 times in a period of six consecutive months and a toxicity discharge limitation four times in that same six-month period, the penalty would be $24,000 ($21,000 for the seven violations in excess of the first three violations for the effluent limitation and $3,000 for the one violation in excess of the first three violations for the toxicity discharge limitation).”(Q&A, Number 34, page 12)
The basis for assessing the penalty for the acute toxicity effluent limit violations is 13385 (i)(1). Therefore, the penalty is calculated based on any combination of effluent limit violations four or more times in any period of six consecutive months.  This approach is consistent with all the previous MMPs issued by the Executive Officer and waived by the other dischargers. 

Comment 3

The Discharger claims that chlorine residual violations are not serious violations because it is impossible to determine 20% of 0, and as such should be fined as non-serious (chronic) violations.

Response 3

Board Staff believe the Q&A provides clear support for the MMP for chlorine residual violations as a serious violation. A twenty percent exceedance of a chlorine limit is defined as a serious violation in 40 CFR Section 123.45. Guidance on determining a twenty percent exceedance of a zero limit is given in Q & A Number 32.

CWC Section 13385 (h)(2) defines a serious violation as any waste discharge that exceeds the effluent limitations for a Group II pollutant, as specified in Appendix A to 40 CFR Section 123.45, by 20 percent or more. 

Chlorine is listed as a Group II pollutant in Appendix A to 40 CFR Section 123.45.  The Discharger’s chlorine effluent limit is 0.0 mg/L, and 120 percent of that limit is 0.0 mg/L. Thus any discharge of effluent with a chlorine concentration greater than 0.0 mg/L is considered a serious violation.

This is consistent with Q&A Number 32 which states, “If the effluent limitation is “zero,” any reported detection necessarily exceeds the effluent limitation by more than 40 percent.”  In the case of chlorine, any reported detection exceeds the effluent limitation of 0.0 mg/l by more than 20 percent is a serious violation.  Again, this determination is consistent with all the previous MMPs issued since the referenced Q&A. 
Comment 4

The exceedances of the chlorine residual limit did not occur more than once within a six month period.

Response 4

Violations of chlorine residual effluent limit are serious violations and each is fineable. In Response 3 above it has been demonstrated that any detection of chlorine residual is a serious violation. Furthermore, CWC Section 13385 (h)(1) states, “a mandatory minimum penalty of three thousand dollars ($3,000) shall be assessed for the first serious violation and each additional serious violation…” There is no provision to exempt the first three serious violations from an MMP.
Comment 5

The Board should hold these alleged violations in abeyance pending new guidance on chlorine residual compliance.

Response 5

State Board may adopt statewide water quality objectives for chlorine.  Once the process begins it typically takes 2 to 3 years.  Until new policy is adopted and approved and incorporated into future permits, CWC 13385 requires the Regional Board to assess an MMP based on the effluent limitations that are in the existing permit. There is no basis on which to assume that the policy will be retroactive.

Board staff does not recommend that the violations be held in abeyance. State Board‘s February 19, 2002 Water Quality Enforcement Policy Page 29 states,  “The intent of these portions of the California Water Code is to assist in bringing the State’s permitted facilities into compliance with WDRs. RWQCBs should issue mandatory minimum penalties within seven months of the time that the violations qualify as mandatory minimum penalty violations, or sooner if the total mandatory penalty amount is $30,000 or more.  This will encourage the discharger to correct the violation in a timely manner.”  As shown in the time line (Figure 1) the MMP was first issued within seven months of the policy becoming effective.

Regional Board staff has provided some guidance for dischargers to evaluate the chlorine residual in their discharges. Upon request by the permittee, the Executive Officer will allow the substitution of hourly grab sample analyses or discrete hourly readings for chlorine residual for the purpose of MMP assessment. The dischargers were also provided with the possibility of demonstrating a chlorine residual false positive by showing the presence of excess dechlorinating agent. The Discharger was unable to avail itself of either of these options, and the chlorine residual violations remain.  

Comment 6

The permit’s coliform requirements were not valid effluent limitations because they are inconsistent with Basin Plan Requirements, and therefore violate state and federal law.

Response 6

The coliform requirements are consistent with the Basin Plan Table 4-2, page 4-69. In addition, the permit was properly adopted and is therefore valid and enforceable.  Coliform limitations are not among the contested effluent limitations in the Discharger’s petition to the State Board nor in the subsequent lawsuits challenging the NPDES permit with Solano County Superior Court and currently with the First District Court of Appeals (See: Appeal Court on timeline).  

Comment 7

The coliform effluent limits are not monthly or weekly average limitations, which are required by federal law.

 Response 7

See Response 6, above. The coliform limits in the permit comply with the Basin Plan requirements and the compliance periods are specified in Table 4-2 of the Basin Plan. The limits and compliance periods in Order No. 00-059 are consistent with Table 4-2. 

The Basin Plan was adopted by the Regional Board in 1995 and approved by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency in 2000, and is consistent with federal law. The Board must enforce all provisions of the permit that have not been stayed.  The coliform limit has not been stayed thus it is enforceable.

Comment 8

a) The number of coliform violations are improperly calculated.

b) The moving median should be interpreted to be a weekly average limitation

c) There can only be one weekly average violation per week.

d) EBMUD petition & showing of impracticability

Response 8 a) – d)

All of these comments are based on the Discharger’s assumption that the coliform limits in the permit are illegal and unenforceable. Their subsequent assertions are based on their substitution of weekly average limitations for the seven day moving median limitation specified in the permit.

The limits are properly adopted, valid, and enforceable. See Response 6, above. The Discharger’s specific comments are addressed below.

Coliforms are easily controlled by disinfection, such as through the metered dosage of chlorine. Over the course of 39 days between the first coliform violation on September 17, 2001 and October 25, 2001, there were 33 days in which there were coliform violations, yet no corrective action was taken. Had the chlorine dosage been adjusted promptly, the majority of these coliform violations could have been avoided. The Discharger’s assertion that “chlorination was increased and the exceedances ceased” speaks directly to their ability to eliminate the coliform violations.  

Response 8a) Coliform violations improperly calculated

The number of coliform violations is properly calculated, based on the requirements and limitations in Order No. 00-059 and guidance in the Q&A. The permit limits for total coliform in Order No. 00-059, Section B(ii) 3. are:

“a. The moving median value for the MPN of total coliform bacteria in any seven consecutive samples shall not exceed 2.2 MPN/100 mL; and

b. Any single sample shall not exceed 240 MPN/100 mL.”

A seven consecutive sample moving median is not tied to a calendar week, or even seven consecutive days. Each new sample result bringing a new value to the set of seven, incorporating the previous six sample results. With each new coliform sample taken, a new seven sample moving median is generated. The seven sample moving median offers the Discharger significant protection from isolated limit violations as four of the seven results must exceed the limit before a violation occurs.  Attachment E of the Permit, the Self Monitoring Program, requires that coliform analyses be conducted 3 times per week, giving the Discharger additional time between sampling events, time that could be used to detect and correct disinfection problems. 

Guidance provided by Q&A Number 40, page 15 states that “Exceedances of effluent limitations where it is specified that the average or median will be computed on a rolling basis (calculated daily), however, would be considered to be violations for each new time period that the average or median was exceeded.”

The seven sample, moving median limit is different than a weekly average limit (i.e., a fixated period of 7 days) Thus each of the rolling seven sample periods in which the moving median total coliform MPN/100 mL exceeded 2.2 is subject to an MMP.   This approach is consistent with all the previous MMPs issued. 

Response 8b) Moving median, not weekly average

The moving median should not be interpreted to be a weekly average limitation because the limit is clearly and properly listed as a moving median in the permit. (See above)

Response 8c) One weekly average per week

The permit lists a seven sample moving median limit for coliforms. The statement that there can only be one weekly average violation per week is of little significance where the limit is clearly and properly given as a seven sample moving median. There are approximately 4 weeks in a month, but there are numerous seven sample periods that may be found in a month. Each sample taken in the month could be the beginning or the end of a moving seven sample sequence.

The moving median limit benefits the Discharger by not penalizing it for isolated violations and providing time to react to and correct a problem. Had the problem of insufficient disinfection been addressed promptly by the Discharger, multiple violations of the moving median would not have occurred. 

Response 8d) EBMUD petition

East Bay Municipal Utilities District’s petition to the State Board resulted in Order 2001-0012, which addressed only toxic pollutant limits. Therefore it is not relevant. 

Comment 9 (Affirmative Defense)

The Board failed to use its discretion to include a shakedown period in the permit for the start-up of the new activated sludge system.  Many of the listed exceedances coincide with the start-up of the new plant process and should be deemed to fit into the upset defense.

Under 40 CFR §122.41(n), CWC Section 13385(f), or 13385(j)(1)(D)(i), the Regional Board should treat 53 exceedances (items 4 through 56) occurring between Sept. 9, and Dec. 9, 2001, as an “upset” or a “single operational upset” or exempt all violations occurring within 90 days after startup of a new activated sludge system. 

Response 9

There are five separate issues raised by the Discharger as follows: : 

a) No shake down period was provided in the permit

b) No compliance schedule was provided in the permit

c) An upset defense was not allowed in the complaint

d) A single operational upset defense was not allowed in the complaint

e) No exemption was allowed for startup in the complaint

Response 9a) Shake down period

Neither the permit nor the law applicable to the violations at issue  provides for such a shake down period. The Discharger cited the Preamble to California Toxics Rule (CTR) claiming that it does not prohibit the use of short-term shakedown period during a new facility’s start-up, especially where permit limits are water quality-based (emphasis added) and biological treatment is involved.  The complaint and tentative order do not consider water quality based limits in the assessment of the MMP.  Water quality-based limits are totally absent in the NPDES permit (Order No. 00-059) due to the Board’s allowance of a compliance schedule.  During the interim, Board adopted interim toxic pollutant limits but these limits were stayed.  In addition, the CTR does not apply to technology-based limitations such as coliform and chlorine limits and therefore is not relevant. A shake down period is not available to the Discharger because the limits in its permit are not water quality-based, as required in the preamble to the CTR.  Therefore the coliform, chlorine residual and acute toxicity limit violations are enforceable and subject to MMP. 

Response 9b) Compliance schedule

The permit does not provide for a compliance schedule for coliforms, chlorine residual and acute toxicity limits and the Board must enforce the permit as written, absent a stay order.  There is no stay order that would prevent the Board from enforcing the provision in question.  

Response 9c) Upset

In Standard Provisions F.5. to Order No. 00-059, the Discharger has the burden of proof when seeking to establish the occurrence of an upset. The discharger does not meet the criteria in the federal regulations that govern an “upset”. CFR 122.41 (n) defines an upset as “an exceptional incident in which there is unintentional and temporary noncompliance with technology based permit effluent limitations because of factors beyond the reasonable control of the permittee. An upset does not include noncompliance to the extent caused by operational error, improperly designed treatment facilities, inadequate treatment facilities, lack of preventive maintenance, or careless or improper operation.”

The Discharger has not demonstrated that there was an upset or that it was due to factors beyond the reasonable control of the permittee. Board staff met with the Discharger on April 8, 2003 to obtain documentation to support the Discharger’s request for exemption from MMPs. No laboratory data sheets, process control data, operator logs, e-mails or meeting minutes could be produced to support any of their contentions. During the discussion at the meeting the Discharger revealed that its staff was aware of the coliform violations yet no corrective action was taken. This points to careless or improper operation – conditions specifically disallowed when making a claim of “upset”. (District counsel correspondence to Board, September 8, 2003, Exhibit 1, Page 3)

The Discharger has not met the criteria to prove an “upset”.

Response 9d) Single operational upset defense 

State law creates a separate exception to the MMP law, which is for “single operational upset”. Under section 13385(f) simultaneous exceedances of more than one effluent limitation due to a  “single operational upset” are treated as one violation. 

The Q&A No. 36 provides guidance that a “single operational upset which leads to simultaneous violations of one or more pollutant parameters shall be treated as a single violation….Single operational upset does not include… noncompliance to the extent caused by improperly designed or inadequate treatment facilities.” An “exceptional” incident is defined as a “non-routine malfunctioning of an otherwise generally compliant facility.”  Single operational upsets include such things as upset caused by a sudden violent storm, a bursting tank, or other exceptional event and may result in multiple violations of the same effluent limitation.  The discharger has the burden of demonstrating a single operational upset occurred.

The single operational upset provision in section 13385(f) is modeled after a provision with the same wording in the Clean Water Act.  The Q&A document advises that section 13385(f) be interpreted consistent with federal law.  EPA interprets the federal provision to mean “an exceptional incident which causes simultaneous, unintentional, unknowing…temporary noncompliance…:[and] does not include…noncompliance to the extent caused by improperly designed or inadequate treatment facilities.”  It further defines an “exceptional incident” to mean “nonroutine functioning of an otherwise generally compliant facility”.  (See also  Public Interest Research Group of New Jersey v. Powell Duffryn Terminals Inc.,(3d Cir. 1990) 913 F.2d 64.)  

The Discharger has not demonstrated that an upset occurred or that it was caused by an exceptional event. 

Startup of a new treatment unit does not fall into the same class of sudden, violent, catastrophic events. The Discharger’s assertion that “the operational problem could have been corrected after the first violation, but it wasn’t” is in effect an admission that they were not properly operating the disinfection system between the time of the first coliform violation on September 17, 2001 and the time chlorination was increased on October 25, 2001 and the exceedances promptly ceased. (District counsel correspondence to Board, September 8, 2003, Exhibit 1, Page 4)

Staff has extensively reviewed monitoring data, inquired Napa’s internal exceedance reporting procedures, and requested and reviewed operational records through meetings with the plant personnel, numerous phone calls and emails.  Staff was not able to find adequate documentation that the Discharger met the criteria specified in Q&A No.36 above. 

The permittee is required to, in a timely fashion, take all corrective and or mitigative measures where possible or practicable. Over the course of 39 days between the first coliform violation on September 17, 2001 and October 25, 2001, there were 33 days in which there were coliform violations, yet no corrective action was taken. The Discharger did not act in a timely fashion.

There were two further coliform violations on October 29 and 31, 2001, where the coliform values were an order of magnitude lower than those prior to October 25th. If the Discharger could demonstrate that 24 hour notification was provided and that all other requirements of the single operational upset defense were met for these two violations, they would still need to prove two separate biological treatment process upsets, one between September 17th and October 25th, and one after October 29th. The second separate upset is required as part of the demonstration that the Discharger acted in a timely manner in each case.

The Discharger has not demonstrated that they meet the requirements for a Single Operational Upset as provided in the Section 13385 (f).

Response 9e) Startup

The discharger contends that the violations should be exempted based on the “start-up” provision in subdivision (f) 
. On January 1, 2003, Section 13385 (f) was revised to provide further criteria for determining whether a single operational upset has occurred.  Those revisions are inapplicable to violations that occurred prior to that date pursuant to section 13385(p).  The violations at issue in this complaint occurred prior to January 1, 2003, thus the amendments do not apply to the Board’s action. Even if the new amendments had been in effect at the time that the violations at issue occurred, the discharger would still not qualify for a single operational upset defense.  With regard to Section 13385(f), Section 13385 (p) states that:

  “(p) The amendments made to subdivisions (f), (h), (i), and (j) during the second year of the 2001-02 Regular Session apply only to violations that occur on or after January 1, 2003.”

The “start-up” provision in subdivisions (f) only applies to violations that occur on or after January 1, 2003, The Complaint and order at issue addresses violations that occurred between January 1, 2000 and February 28, 2002.  Therefore, subdivision (f) is not relevant.  In addition, it is not automatic that violations which occurred during “start-up” are exempted from a MMP.  There are several requirements that the discharger has to comply with prior to and during start-up before the exemption can apply.  These requirements include, but are not limited to, submittal of an operational plan prior to start-up for staff approval, implementation of the approved operational plan during start-up, demonstrating the violations were not due to improper operation.  None of the above took place. 

Response 9 – Summary

The Discharger is not eligible for a “start up” period as that is only available to violations occurring after January 1, 2003.  A compliance period is not provided in the permit for the limits at issue. The Discharger is not eligible for an upset or a single operational upset as no upset has been proven, whether the appropriate or revised CWC sections are applied. Had the Discharger been able to prove an upset, its inability to correct a chlorine dosage problem would again render it ineligible on the basis that the violations could have been avoided through exercise of due care or foresight. This same inaction would disallow a “start up” period, had it been available prior to January 1, 2003. 

Exhibit 1  

The minutes are from a meeting between Napa staff and Board staff held on April 8, 2003 at Napa Sanitation District. 

Response to Exhibit 1

The purpose of the meeting was for the Board staff to assist the Discharger in providing the documentation that might prove their contention that the effluent limit violations are a result of a single operational upset. These minutes are incorporated by reference but not discussed in the Discharger’s written comments. The minutes do however bring to light a situation not addressed in the written comments – the Discharger’s claims of negligence, sabotage etc. The Discharger also indicated (on Page 9) that the lab had noticed the coliform violations and had increased the coliform sampling frequency accordingly, yet had not taken steps to correct the coliform violations. On Page 8 the plant manager recognized that coliform data was not being entered each week into the process spreadsheet. She questioned the lab director regarding this lack of data, but did not investigate further until she was presented with 19 coliform violations from that time period two and a half months after they had occurred. On Page 3 the Discharger indicates that the BOD and TSS results were low, signs of a healthy biological treatment process. They were unable to provide any evidence of a plant upset. Coliform violations under these conditions would tend to indicate a poorly adjusted or malfunctioning chlorination system. Given the heightened awareness expected during startup, and the training, knowledge and experience needed to attain the required wastewater treatment plant operator certification, it is remarkable that no one at the plant saw fit to adjust, let alone check, the chlorination system when a new process with concentrations of microorganism orders of magnitudes higher than existing processes was brought online.

The Discharger was unable to show evidence of a single operational upset, neither a natural disaster nor an intentional act of a third party. 

On Page 3 of the meeting minutes (Discharger’s Exhibit 1) the District General Manager claimed that coliform exceedance “information was intentionally withheld, negligently withheld.” The majority of the discussion was devoted to the withholding of information by the 2 laboratory technicians and the laboratory supervisor, and the absence of procedures to expeditiously bring exceedance information to the attention of operation staff. These claims by the District General Manager do not support the allowance of any approved exemption from MMP, in fact they are strong arguments against some of the primary requirements of many of the exemptions – demonstration ‘that it has carried out all reasonable and immediately feasible actions to reduce noncompliance…” or “The upset…was not due to discharger negligence.”

Summary of comments:

The Discharger has not proven its contentions regarding chlorine residual, coliform bacteria and acute toxicity. It has also not proven that there was an upset of any biological process or demonstrated the causes thereof. There is no ambiguity associated with the imposition of MMP for chlorine limit violations. Fines for acute toxicity violations are assessed in a manner consistent with all previous enforcement actions. The discharger has stated that “the operational problem could have been corrected after the first violation, but it wasn’t.”  This is an admission that forty seven of the violations, amounting to $141,000 for the coliform limit exceedances, were self inflicted. 

� Section 13385 (f) (A) For the purposes of subdivisions (h) and (i), a single operational upset in a wastewater treatment unit that treats wastewater using a biological treatment process shall be treated as a single violation, even if the operational upset results in violations of more than one effluent limitation and the violations continue for a period of more than one day, if all of the following apply:


   (i) The discharger demonstrates all of the following:


   (I) The upset was not caused by wastewater treatment operator error and was not due to discharger negligence.


   (II) But for the operational upset of the biological treatment process, the violations would not have occurred nor would they have continued for more than one day.


   (III) The discharger carried out all reasonable and immediately feasible actions to reduce noncompliance with the applicable effluent limitations.


   (ii) The discharger is implementing an approved pretreatment program, if so required by federal or state law.


   (B) Subparagraph (A) only applies to violations that occur during a period for which the regional board has determined that violations are unavoidable, but in no case may that period exceed 30 days.
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